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SDI is at the forefront of the MRO integrated
supply chain industry. We've developed an industry-
changing, integrated solution designed to cut costs
up and down the supply chain.

A Great Solution to a Complex Puzzie

MRO supply chain management is an increasingly compiex
puzzle that encompasses hundreds of work orders,
thousands of suppliers, millions of SKUs, complicated staff
juggling, and a mystifying parts inventory. There are
hundreds of ways costs can skyrocket - the fact is, MRO
inefficiency robs organizations every day.

SDI is changing all of that -~ with groundbreaking tech-
nology and a comprehensive program to rein in runaway
- supply costs.

We streamline every link in the MRO supply chain...from
sourcing, procurement, and receiving to accounting
and internal distribution. We deliver more than just
purchasing power. We help customers improve plant and
worker productivity, increase operational efficiency,
optimize inventories, and cut total costs.

What's Next

QOur new solution is just beginning to make waves in the
marketplace and will continue to spread through 2005
and beyond.

As we move forward, we remain dedicated to limiting
unwarranted risk by eliminating capital investment
in customer inventories as we committed to do in 2003.
We are also refining our client base to increase profit-
ability by directing our energies towards customers
with the greatest growth potential. These are organiza-
tions that share our long-term vision for success, and are
within vertical markets that stand to receive the greatest
value from our solution.

Thinking Beyond.

Solving the Puzzle.




To Our Shareholders

While the financial outcome for 2004 was disappointing, the Company achieved several goals that we believe will
lead to a promising future for SDI. We continued our investment in technology and applications that open exciting
new market opportunities for SDI and strengthen our new service oriented business model. We improved the stability
within our existing customer base, and were honored by significant awards received from customers for our
outstanding service. We developed and continue to develop strategic partners that we believe will lead to attractive
new business opportunities for SDI. In essence, we invested in SDI's future.

Despite the year over year decline in revenue, the Company added $18.6 million of revenue from new customers.
Our cash position and the quality of our receivables remain very strong.

You will see reflected in the cover of our annual report, our shift in focus to a service oriented business model. We
believe that this model, which substantially reduces SDI’s investment in customer inventory, delivers more value to
our customers. In order to implement this new business model, we also developed new Core Values which will
strengthen SDI's culture and distinguish it from competitors.

At the onset of 2004, we set three priorities for the year:

¢ Return to profitability, providing a respectable return to our shareholders;

» Widen the technology gap between SDI and its competitors; and

» Continue to refine our strategy to meet the changing demands of the marketplace.
We are pleased to report on these efforts.

Return to profitability

Our financial outlook for the year was driven by some early indications that our new business model was being
adopted at a very rapid rate. To deliver upon anticipated demand, the Company invested in infrastructure.
Unfortunately, our initial sales proved to be anomalies in the sales closing timeline. The combination of the
introduction of our new business model, and competitive product pricing pressures, resulted in a longer sales cycle
than we first experienced. Nevertheless, we remain firm in our commitment to our new service oriented business
model, and believe our infrastructure investment can support a significant increase in growth without a
commensurate increase in costs.

The industry is changing to a fee for services model and SDI is at the forefront of this migration, experiencing both
the benefit and pain that comes with early adoption of this model. While this strategy had a negative impact on our
2004 new sales, our belief is that by focusing on the value added services we provide, rather than competing on
commodity pricing, we provide sustainable value for both our customers and our shareholders.

One of the Company’s most exciting achievements during 2004 was the creation and proving of a small site
solution. It was once considered economically unfeasible to provide an integrated supply solution for a site with an
MRO spend of less than $2 million per year. SDI has, however, developed an ASP-based technology platform that
enables a customer’s own personnel to manage the customer’s MRO operations utilizing SDI's technology, avoiding
the additional expense of SDI on-site professionals. This new service offering has received very good feedback from
new customers, and opens up a large new market opportunity for SDIL

We are also pleased to report that our customer base appears to be as stable as it has ever been. As evidence of this,
SDI achieved a number of awards from customers during 2004, including a “Supplier of the Year” award from a
Fortune 500 customer that was presented to only eleven of the customer’s over 30,000 worldwide suppliers.

Widen the technology gap

SDI has developed the business processes and technology to offer prospective customers a broad menu of services,
including inventory management, storeroom management, transaction processing and controls, catalog content and
management, and mobility solutions.

SDI has developed several new customer-driven applications that have been producing exciting results. In-Site®
Online™ provides customers with the ability to access the Company’s database directly from the end-user’s desktop
via the Internet, enabling SDI and its customers to make well-informed purchasing decisions by gaining access to a
tremendous amount of information affiliated with the MRO supplies being ordered.

In-Site® Mobile®™ provides a mobile solution to parts ordering, inventoi'y management and work order
management. Individuals carry handheld PDAs that display work order and product information. This system is




particularly effective in situations where customers are using MRO supplies in a variety of sites. In-Site Mobile has
been of particular interest to the education marketplace.

With products such as In-Site Online and In-Site Mobile, SDI has invested, and continues to invest, in technology
that drives new business models that are service focused. We believe we have built a unique technology platform that
provides a significant competitive advantage, is highly scalable and is capable of supporting substantial future
growth.

Continue to refine our strategy

We have made investments this year to adapt our strategy to meet the demands of an evolving marketplace. The
results of those efforts include the development and implementation of the small site solution, In-Site Online and
In-Site Mobile, as well as continued refinements to our services oriented model. Our focus is on developing the
expertise in technology and processes that is required to effectively manage all aspects of MRO procurement and
handling, a typically under managed area.

SDIis very excited about the opportunities these strategies will produée. We believe the associated returns and risk
profiles of these models are much more favorable than the traditional integrated supply model.

Our Goals for 2005
¢ Grow new sales with particular focus on geographic expansion and strategic alliances;

¢ Continue to focus on and develop those of our core competencies that provide sustainable value for our
customers;

¢ Become the low cost producer of the services we offer; and
¢ Utilize our resources for the long term benefit of our shareholders.

Looking ahead

SDI is in a changing environment and marketplace. Our business is driven by the large and highly fragmented
market for integrated supply services. Integrated supply represents the uninterrupted process from a customer’s
request for an MRO product, through the procurement and consumption of the MRO product. In the past, SDI's
primary product offering was the In-Plant Store® program, which was focused as much on owning a customer’s
inventory as on providing MRO management services. Today, companies across a variety of industries are beginning
to recognize the value of integrated supply services that reduce operating expenses by applying sophisticated
technology solutions to the MRO supply process.

SDI is in a unique position, given its technology and process improvement capabilities, to capitalize on the demand
for service driven integrated supply solutions. We are responding to the shift in market demand by developing
integrated supply solutions that have much broader application in the marketplace and require less capital to
generate returns to our shareholders.

It is vital that SDI remain committed to its new business model in order to provide you, its shareholders, with an
attractive return. We will avoid the pitfalls of pursuing short term benefits that are inconsistent with our long term
objective. We will aggressively pursue all opportunities that will help us build shareholder value. We will strive to
return capital to our shareholders by continuing to focus on providing technology based MRO solutions to our
customers, solutions which deliver more value to our customers and require significantly less capital investment on
the part of SDL

Donald C. Woodring
President and Chief Executive Officer
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PART 1

Item 1. Business

(a) General Dévelopment of Business

Strategic Distribution, Inc. (the “Company”) is a Delaware corporation that was organized in 1968.
In 1994, the Company acquired Industrial Systems Associates, Inc. (“ISA”). ISA changed its name to
SDI, Inc. (“SDI”) effective January 26, 2004. Through SDI and the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries,
the Company provides supply chain management services with respect to maintenance, repair and
operating (“MRO”) supplies for industrial and institutional customers in the United States and Mexico.

(b) Financial Information About Industry Segments

The Company operates in one reportable segment and substantially all of its revenues were from
the provision of MRO supply chain management services and supplies for industrial and institutional
customers. See Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements”, Footnote No. 14.

(c) Narrative Description of Business.

The Company’s programs permit organizations to outsource all aspects of their MRO supplies
procurement; with most of its existing customer base the Company takes responsibility for purchasing,
receiving, stocking, issuing and delivering MRO supplies at the customer site. The Company also
efficiently manages customers’” MRO inventory using its proprietary information system. The Company
also offers solutions that enable customers to efficiently manage MRO supplies procurement using
Company tools and systems applications.

Service Offerings

The Company provides proprietary MRO supply chain management services through programs
tailored to meet customer needs. The Company sells a broad range of MRO supplies, replacement
parts and selected classes of production materials, which are described collectively as MRO supplies.
MRO supplies are frequently inexpensive but critical items, with high associated procurement costs due
to inherent inefficiencies in traditional MRO supply distribution methods. The Company’s programs
substantially mitigate these inefficiencies by reducing both the process and product costs associated with
MRO supply management. The Company’s programs also help customers achieve operational
improvements, such as reduced plant down-time resulting from unavailable parts, and manufacturing
process improvements due to better tracking of critical parts. The Company believes that its programs
are superior to both traditional and alternative methods of MRO supply distribution in that the
Company’s programs allow customers to outsource MRO supply distribution and handling activities and
concentrate on their core businesses.

Another benefit of the Company’s services is the identification and reduction of redundant and
inactive inventory in the customer’s legacy inventory of MRO supplies. The Company uses its software
to systematically describe all MRO parts. Redundancies are identified and the Company is able to
consolidate and reduce inventories and standardize costs, thereby reducing its own and the customer’s
capital investment. The Company can also reduce handling and other expenses related to MRO
procurement and gain better pricing by consolidating purchases. In addition, over time, the Company
can provide its customers value by (i) more quickly and easily identifying and locating MRO items
needed by different departments at a site, or by different sites operated by the same company, and
(ii) helping locate alternative sources for different MRO items.




The Company operates a proprietary Information Technology platform, In-Site®, which includes a
flexible Enterprise Reporting Package (“ERP”) system for budgetary controls, sophisticated inventory
management, spend analysis, mobile work order management and consolidated transaction processing.

Traditionally, the Company has provided MRO supply chain management services through its
In-Plant® Store program. This program is a comprehensive outsourcing service through which the
Company manages all aspects of MRO supply procurement and handling at a customer’s site. Prior to
the implementation of the In-Plant Store program, a customer would typically obtain thousands of
MRO supplies from hundreds of traditional industrial distributors. The Company’s In-Plant Store
program allows the customer to procure its MRO supplies through one vendor. Through the In-Plant
Store program, the Company services many of its customers’ MRO supply needs by establishing a
dedicated, fully integrated store at the customer’s site. The customer, in turn, generally purchases all of
its MRO supplies from SDI. The Company operates the In-Plant Store program with its own trained
MRO procurement professionals, installs its proprietary information system designed specifically for
industrial procurement and identifies appropriate inventory levels based on the supply needs of each i
site. Upon implementation of services the Company sometimes purchases, receives, inventories and
issues MRO supplies directly to plant personnel, delivers ongoing technical support and provides the
customer with a comprehensive invoice twice per month, thereby reducing the administrative burden of
traditional MRO supply.

In addition to its full service offering, the Company has created a technology based solution for
small sites (sites with an MRO spend under $2 million) that incorporates the Company’s sophisticated
In-Site® Online inventory management tool with a Company hosted ERP tool. In-Site Online is
designed for small sites where it is not economically practical to deliver a solution at the client’s site.
This solution enables customers to access the Company’s database directly from the customer’s desktop
via Internet access. In-Site Online provides item search and requisitioning capabilities in an e-business
environment.

In marketing to prospective customers, the Company has modified its offering to place more
emphasis upon the value added supply chain management services it provides and a decreased
emphasis upon MRO supply sales. In this connection, the Company has enhanced its service offering
by adding additional system capabilities and providing more flexible solutions, including In-Site Online
designed for smaller sites where a comprehensive In-Plant Store is not economically justified. The
Company’s marketing efforts are focused on driving future business to a fee for services model. In
addition, traditionally the Company carried inventory on behalf of its customers without adequate
compensation. The Company is endeavoring to limit its obligations to carry inventory with new
customers. The Company believes these changes in its offering combined with intensifying MRO supply
pricing pressure have been primarily responsible for lengthening its sales cycle and limiting its success
in securing new customers. The Company believes that its modified offerings will gain market
acceptance as customers come to understand the Company’s value proposition, but there is no
guarantee concerning whether or when such market acceptance will occur.

The Company believes that increased recognition of the inefficiencies associated with the
traditional MRO supply distribution process has increased the demand for MRO supply chain
management solutions such as those offered by the Company.

Customers

During the year ended December 31, 2004, two customers comprised approximately 32.3% of the
Company’s revenues. Revenues from Coors Brewing Company and the New York City Department of
Education comprised 16.6% and 15.7% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31,
2004, respectively. Loss of either of these customers would have a material adverse effect on the
business.




The Company periodically reviews the financial condition of its customers and seeks to reduce
asset exposure and program costs when appropriate.

The Company provides its services to its customers in the United States and Mexico. During the
year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, 19.2% and 19.4% of the Company’s revenues were from
customers in Mexico. The Company’s operations in Mexico face unique risks, including foreign trade
restrictions, changes in U.S. and Mexican governmental regulations, currency fluctuations, tariffs and
other trade barriers, the potential for nationalization of enterprises, and political, economic and social
‘instability. '

In May 2003, the Company announced that it agreed to terminate the In-Plant Store services
agreements with El Paso Corporation (“EPC”), its largest customer at the time. The Company
transitioned all storerooms to EPC during July 2003. The Company’s revenues from EPC for fiscal
2003 and 2002 were $16.0 million and $34.7 million, respectively. There were no accounts receivable or
inventory related to the EPC services agreements at December 31, 2003.

During 2002, the Company and Kraft Foods North America, Inc. (“Kraft”) discussed certain
changes to the In-Plant Store services agreement that would have made the Kraft agreement profitable
and reduced the Company’s working capital commitment. As a result of the inability of the parties to
reach a revised agreement, on March 27, 2002 the Company and Kraft agreed to terminate the
relationship prior to the contract expiration of August 2003. During the second quarter of 2002, the
Company sold its Kraft inventory to Kraft at normal selling prices. The value of the sale was
$26.2 million and the related gross margin was $1.7 million. During the second and third quarters of
2002, the Company substantially completed the transition of all storerooms to Kraft and reduced its
operating costs. The Company provided inventory procurement and management services to Kraft
during the transition. The Company’s Kraft revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 were
$77.0 million ($50.8 million excluding the Kraft inventory sale).

During the year ended December 31, 2003, three customers comprised approximately 35.3% of the
Company’s revenues. Although EPC terminated its contract with the Company during the third quarter
of 2003, it comprised 11.9% of the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
Company operated one In-Plant Store site for another customer, Coors Brewing Company, which
comprised 14.1% of the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Products

The Company provides a broad range of MRO supplies, replacement parts and selected classes of
production materials, including the following:

* Abrasives * Janitorial supplies

¢ Adhesives : e Material handling products

* Coatings, lubricants and compounds ¢ Measuring instruments

+ Cutting, hand, pneumatic and power tools * Power transmission equipment
* Electrical supplies * Replacement parts

+ Fasteners ¢ Respiratory products

» Fire protection equipment and clothing » Safety products

* Hoses, pipe fittings and valves * Welding materials

. [ ]

HVAC and plumbing equipment General industrial supplies

Because of the broad range of products sold by the Company, no single product or class of
products accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenues in 2004.




Suppliers

The Company.purchases products from manufacturers and distributors. The Company has
agreements with manufacturers and suppliers, all of which can be canceled by the respective
manufacturers and suppliers upon notice of one year or less. Because no manufacturer or supplier
provides products that account for more than 10% of the Company’s revenues and because the
Company believes that it could quickly find alternative sources of supply if any agreement or supply
arrangement were canceled, the Company does not believe that the loss of any one supply agreement
or distribution contract, or any small group of supply agreements or distribution contracts, would have
a material adverse impact on the Company’s business.

Competition

The Company’s business is highly competitive. The Company competes with a wide variety of
traditional MRO supply distributors. Most of such distributors are small enterprises selling to customers
in a limited geographic area, but the Company also competes with MRO supply distributors that are
larger and have significantly greater financial resources than the Company. The Company also
competes with several integrated supply providers, direct mail suppliers, internet suppliers and large
warehouse stores, some of which have significantly greater financial resources than the Company. Some
of the integrated supply providers with which the Company competes are also wholesale distributors
that have access to more favorable MRO supply pricing than that available to the Company. Some of
the Company’s competitors sell identical MRO supplies for lower prices than those offered by the
Company.

The primary areas of competition include price, breadth and quality of product lines distributed,
ability to fill orders promptly, technical knowledge of sales personnel and, in certain product lines,
service and repair capability. The Company believes that its ability to compete effectively is dependent
upon its ability to be reasonably price-competitive, to deliver value-added supply chain management
solutions to its customers and to respond to the needs of its customers with high quality of service. The
Company believes that certain of its competitors have developed and implemented programs which
offer services similar to, and which compete with, the Company’s In-Plant Store program.

The Company also competes, to some extent, with the manufacturers of MRO supplies. The
Company believes, however, that most of such manufacturers sell their products through traditional
industrial distributors, because the limited range of products that a manufacturer offers cannot compete
effectively with the broad product lines and additional services offered by traditional industrial
distributors and MRO supply service providers such as the Company.

Government Regulation

In recent years, governmental and regulatory bodies have promulgated numerous standards and
regulations designed, among other things, to ensure the quality of certain classes of MRO items, to
protect workers’ well-being and to make the work place safer. The Company has increased sales in the
past as a result of its customers’ compliance with this increasing level of regulation. The Company
cannot predict the level or direction of future regulation.

Employeés

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had 365 employees, of whom 123 were employed in
selling and administrative capacities and 242 were involved in operations. None of the Company’s
employees were covered under collective bargaining agreements. The Company considers its employee
relations to be good.




Insurance

The Company maintains liability and other insurance that it believes to be customary and generally
consistent with industry practice. The Company is also named as an additional insured under the
products liability policies of certain of its suppliers and, with respect to In-Plant Store facilities, so
names certain of its customers. The Company believes that such insurance is adequate to cover
potential claims relating to its existing business activities.

Item 2. Properties

The Company leases its corporate headquarters located in Bristol, Pennsylvania, a few smail
warehouses and offices located at or near In-Plant Store sites and an office for the Mexican operations
located in El Paso, Texas. The Company has the right to renew some of these leases. The Company
believes the properties that are currently under lease are adequate to serve the Company’s business
operations for the foreseeable future. The Company believes that if it were unable to renew its lease at
any of these facilities, it could find other suitable facilities with no adverse effect on the Company’s
business. The Company does not own or lease the space occupied by its In-Plant Store facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is currently involved in certain legal proceedings incidental to the conduct of its
business, including collection matters with several terminated accounts. The Company does not believe
that the outcomes of such proceedings are likely to have a material adverse effect, individually or in the
aggregate, on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not applicable.

PART 11
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market (“NNM”) under the symbol
“STRD”. As of March 21, 2005, there were approximately 1,400 holders of record of the Common
Stock. The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices of the Common Stock on the NNM
for the periods indicated:

Quarter Ended High Sales Price  Low Sales Price
March 31,2003 . .. ... ... i e $13.45 $12.05
June 30, 2003 . .. ... .. e e ‘ 17.00 13.00
September 30,2003 . ... ... ... e 19.60 15.04
December 31, 2003 . . ... .o . 19.55 13.70
March 31,2004 . .. .. ... e e 14.98 11.51
June 30, 2004 . . ... e e 13.50 10.95
September 30,2004 . ... ... ... 15.70 12.80
December 31, 2004 . ... ..o i e e s 14.93 10.87

The Company paid a cash distribution, which was deemed to be a return of capital for tax
purposes, of $5.00 per common share to its shareholders during the fourth quarter of 2003. The
distribution was paid on October 6, 2003 to stockholders of record on September 8, 2003 and
amounted to $14,765,000. The Company paid no cash dividends on the Common Stock for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2002. The Company has not made any decisions to declare any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. At the time of distribution in 2003, only shareholders who




converted shares during the 2001 reverse split received a distribution. During 2004, the Company paid
out $51,000 relating to the. fourth quarter 2003 distribution. As of December 31, 2004, $84,000 of the
2003 distribution remained unpaid and is recorded as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet. See
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capital Resources”.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Years ended December 31,
2004(a,b,c) 2003(d) 2002(e,f) 2001(g) 2000(h,i)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues. . .. ...t e $121,878  $134,557 $253,583 $319,619  $ 355503
Operatingloss .. ....... ... .. .. . ... . (4,017) (853) (1,752) (12,777) (10,985)
Income (loss) before iNCOME taxes . . . . ..o vvrn s ... (3,679) (357) (1,315)  (13,125) 31,341
Income tax (expense) benefit . ... ...... .. .. e 1,058 (367) (164) — (12,789)
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . ... .......... (2,621) (724) (1,479) (13,125) 18,552
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax . . . . .. ....... — — — — (650)
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ............... — — (1,939) — —
Netincome (Ioss) . . ... ... .., (2,621) (724) (3,418) (13,125) 17,902
Per Share Data—basic and diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . .. ........... $§ (089 $ (024) $ (048 $§ (425 $ 6.00
Loss from.discontinued operations . . . . ... ............. — — — — (0.21)
Cumulative effect of accounting change ................ — — (0.63) — —
Netincome (loss) .. ... ... .. ... (0.89) (0.24) (1.11) (4.25) 5.79
Weighted Average Number of Shares of Common Stock

Outstanding . ... ......... ... ... ... ... ... 2,953,822 2,989,011 3,084964 3,088,896 3,093,123
Balance Sheet Data:
TOtal @SSELS .+ o . v v i e e e $ 63,786 3§ 63,503 § 92870 §$111,313 §$147,985
Longtermdebt............ ... ... ... . .. .. ... - — — — 13,252

(a) Operating results include approximately $5,700,000 of revenue related to supplies shipped in 2003. This revenue was not
recognized until all of the criteria of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104”), were met during
the first quarter of 2004.

(b) Operating results include a favorable resolution of a dispute of $400,000 and a favorable recovery of previously reserved
receivables of $300,000. '

(c) A $1.1 million income tax benefit relating to the favorable resolution of a state tax issue was recorded.

(d) :Operating results include a benefit of $700,000 from a legal settlement for less than amounts previously accrued, a $930,000
reduction in cost of materials related to changes in previously recorded estimates of liabilities for products purchased, a
charge of $232,000 for the repricing of outstanding stock options and a charge of $250,000 related to changes in the
Company’s vacation benefits.

(e) Operating results include revenues of $26,200,000, gross margin of $1,700,000, a charge of $3,800,000 for the write-down of
certain fixed assets and severance expense of $700,000, all related to the termination of the Kraft contract and inventory sale
to Kraft.

(f) Operating loss is net of operating income of $900,000 related to an increase in the recoverable value of accounts receivable
and inventories in connection with the termination of services agreements and $300,000 from an insurance recovery.

(g) Operating loss includes charges amounting to $5,800,000 related to the bankruptcies of two large In-Plant Store customers.

(h) Operating loss includes a charge of $1,514,000 for settlement of an employment contract and a charge of $1,584,000 related
to the write-off of certain impaired assets.

(i) Income before income taxes includes a pretax gain of $43,185,000 from the sale of the Company’s INTERMAT, Inc.
subsidiary (“INTERMAT”). )




Certain statements in this Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which involve risks and uncertainties. The
Company’s actual results in the future could differ significantly from the results discussed or implied in
such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but
are not limited to, those related to the Company’s ability to obtain new customers and manage growth,
concentration of customers and ability to retain new customers, the Company’s ability to enforce
provisions of its contracts, termination of contracts, competition in the Company’s business, the
Company’s dependence on key personnel and other risks described in this Form 10-K, and other filings
made by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In the event of
economic downturn, the Company could experience customer bankruptcies, reduced volume of business
from its existing customers and lost volume due to plant shutdowns, or consolidations by the
Company’s customers.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is a discussion of our results of operations and financial position for the periods
described below. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
included in this report.

General

Strategic Distribution, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) provides supply chain management
services with respect to maintenance, repair and operating (“MRO”) supplies for industrial and
institutional customers in the United States and Mexico. The Company conducts it U.S. operations
primarily through its wholly-owned subsidiary, SDI, Inc. (“SDI”).

As a result of the termination of service agreements with customers during 2004 and 2003 and the
slowdown of the introduction of new sites, the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31,
2004 were below those reported for the year ended December 31, 2003. The termination of contracts
with customers throughout fiscal 2003 (10 customers) and 2004 (6 customers) was the primary cause of
the revenue reduction. In marketing to prospective customers, the Company has modified its offering
to place more emphasis upon the value added supply chain management services it provides and a
decreased emphasis upon MRO supply sales. In this connection, the Company has enhanced its service
offering by adding additional system capabilities and providing more flexible solutions, including In-Site
Online designed for smaller sites where a comprehensive In-Plant Store is not economically justified.
The Company’s marketing efforts are focused on driving future business to a fee for services model. In
addition, traditionally the Company carried inventory on behalf of its customers without adequate
compensation. The Company is endeavoring to limit its obligations to carry inventory with new
customers. The Company believes these changes in its offering combined with intensifying MRO supply
pricing pressure have been primarily responsible for lengthening its sales cycle and limiting its success
in securing new customers. The Company believes that its modified offerings will gain market
acceptance as customers come to understand the Company’s value proposition, but there is no
guarantee concerning whether or when such market acceptance will occur.

Revenue changes in the Company’s remaining business may cause future operating results to differ
significantly from historical results reported. Future growth in the Company’s business is highly
dependent on its ability to attract new customers. The Company has reduced and may continue to
reduce its operating costs as a result of the revenue declines. Such cost reductions will likely be lower
than the relative sales declines because of the fixed nature of certain costs and the determination by
the Company that certain costs are necessary to maintain and improve the Company’s technology and
service offerings.




Critical Accounting Policies

The SEC has issued cautionary advice regarding disclosure about critical accounting policies. The
SEC defines critical accounting policies as those that are both most important to the portrayal of a
company’s financial condition and results and that require management’s most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about matters that are inherently
uncertain and may change materially in subsequent periods. The preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported and
disclosed in the financial statements and related notes. Significant estimates made by the Company
include the following:

* Reserves and Accrued Liabilities: The Company provides reserves and accrued liabilities in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for events such as site closures, to
record assets at estimated net realizable values and to record probable contingent liabilities. In
addition, in the ordinary course of business, management makes estimates of accrued liabilities
to suppliers and other service providers. The amounts of such reserves and accrued liabilities are
based on information and assumptions that the Company deems reasonable and probable at the
time. The matters that give rise to such provisions are inherently uncertain and require complex
and subjective judgments.

* Allowance for doubtful accounts: The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for
estimated losses resulting from the Company’s review and assessment of its customers’ ability to
make required payments. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to
deteriorate, additional allowances might be required.

* Deferred tax asset valuation allowance: The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its
deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. While the Company
has considered future taxable income and ongoing tax planning strategies in assessing the need
for the valuation allowance, future realization of these assets in excess of the net amount
recorded would increase income during that period. Likewise, should the Company determine a
greater possibility exists that it would not be able to realize part of or the entire net deferred tax
asset in the future, a charge to income would result at the time the determination was made.

* Recoverability of assets: The Company makes significant estimates relating to the recoverability of
assets, such as inventory and long-lived assets. The Company’s ability to recover the value of its
inventory depends on a number of factors, including the financial condition of its customers, the
effect of changes in economic conditions and its ability to enforce provisions of its contracts in
the event of disputes, through litigation if necessary. The recoverability of long-lived assets is
highly dependant on the Company’s business volume and application of the applicable
accounting standards requires significant judgments and estimates.

Although the Company believes the estimates and assumptions used in determining the recorded
amounts of net assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004 are reasonable, actual results could differ
materially from estimated amounts recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Contract Terminations

During 2004, the Company terminated contracts with 6 smaller customers, none of which ever
totaled more than 10% of the Company’s revenue in any given reporting period.

In May 2003, the Company announced that it agreed to terminate its In-Plant Store services
agreements with EPC, its then largest customer. The Company transitioned all storerooms to EPC
during July 2003. The Company’s revenues from EPC for fiscal 2003 and 2002 were $16.0 million and
$34.7 million, respectively. There were no accounts receivable or inventory related to EPC at
December 31, 2003.




During 2002, the Company and Kraft discussed certain changes to the In-Plant Store services
agreement that would have made the Kraft agreement profitable and reduced the Company’s working
capital commitment. As a result of the inability of the parties to reach a revised agreement, on
March 27, 2002, the Company and Kraft agreed to terminate the relationship prior to the contract
expiration of August 2003. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company sold its Kraft inventory to
Kraft at normal selling prices. The value of the sale was $26.2 million and the related gross margin was
$1.7 million. During the second and third quarters of 2002, the Company substantially completed the
transition of all storerooms to Kraft and reduced its operating costs. The Company provided inventory
procurement and management services to Kraft during the transition. The Company’s Kraft revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2002 were $77.0 million ($50.8 million excluding the Kraft inventory
sale). There were no accounts receivable or inventory related to the Kraft services agreement at
December 31, 2002.

In connection with the termination of the Kraft agreement, the Company provided the affected
workforce with information concerning employment opportunities with either the Company or Kraft,
and provided severance benefits to those employees whose positions were eliminated in the workforce
reduction. In connection therewith, the Company recorded severance expense of $700,000 during the
second quarter of 2002, which was paid prior to December 31, 2002.

As a result of the termination of the Kraft relationship, the Company evaluated the recoverability
of its computer technology and determined that the carrying value was impaired from the expected
underutilization. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3.8 million in
accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”).

Results of Operations

The following table of revenues and percentages sets forth selected items of the results of
operations:
Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Revenues .............. $121,878,000 $134,557,000 $253,583,000
Revenues .............. 100.00% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of materials . . .. ... .. 80.4 77.7 80.9
Operating wages and

benefits . . ............ 7.2 8.6 7.3
Other operating expenses. . . 29 2.7 , 2.6
Selling, general and .

administrative expenses . . 12.8 ' 11.6 8.1
Severance and asset ,

impairment expenses . . .. — — 1.8
Operating loss . . .. ....... _ (3.3) (0.6) 0.7
Interest income . ......... 0.3 0.4 0.2

Loss from operations before
income taxes and
cumulative effect of

accounting change . ... .. B.0)
Income tax (benefit) expense 0.9
Loss from operations . . . . .. (2.1)

Cumulative effect of
accounting change ...... —
Netloss ............... 2.1)

10




Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Revenues

2004 2003 Change
RevenUeS. . . . ..ot $121,878,000 $134,557,000 (9.4)%

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 decreased $12.7 million, or 9.4%, to
$121.9 million from $134.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The termination of contracts
with customers throughout fiscal 2003 and 2004 was the primary cause for the revenue reduction. The
closing of EPC accounted for $16.0 million of the overall decrease. Other site closings and a reduction
in revenue from our existing business resulted in an additional decrease of $16.5 million (including a
$2.5 million inventory sale to a former customer) and a $0.8 million (including a $1.0 million inventory
sale to a current customer during 2003). This decrease of $33.3 million was offset by revenues from
new customers of $20.6 million. A portion of the revenues from new customers during 2004,
$5.7 million, relates to supplies shipped during the third quarter of 2003 and other service fee revenue.
This revenue was not recognized until all of the criteria of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition (“SAB 104”), were met during the first quarter of 2004. As a result, the Company
recognized revenue on two seasonal buys from the new customer during the year ended December 31,
2004. The Company categorizes “new” customers as those that generated revenue in the current period
with no revenue during the comparable period of the prior year.

Coors Brewing Company comprised 16.6% and 14.1% of the 2004 and 2003 revenue, respectively.
Revenues from the New York City Department of Education comprised 15.7% of the Company’s
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004. EPC, which terminated its contract with the Company
during the third quarter of 2003, comprised 11.9% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

Cost of Materials / Gross Margin

A 2004 2003 Change
Costof Materials. . . ....... oot $98,029,000 $104,601,000 (6.3)%
Costof Materials % . ..., 80.4% 777% 2.7 %
Gross Margin % . ... ... 19.6% 223% (2%

Cost of materials as a percentage of revenue increased 2.7% to 80.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from 77.7% in 2003. The increase in the cost of materials as a percentage of
revenue was primarily attributable to a lower portion of management service fees (1.1%) in the revenue
mix for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2003, lower
gross margins from the Company’s new business in 2004 (1.1%), and a reduction in the consolidated
costs of goods sold during the fourth quarter of 2003 as a result of decreases in previously estimated
liabilities for product purchases (0.7%), partially offset by the 2004 implementation revenue earned at
one of the new customers which had no direct product costs. The new customers generated lower gross
margins than the Company has historically reported, but they also, on average, report lower site
operating expenses as a percentage of revenue compared to our continuing business.
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Other

2004 2003 Change
Operating Wages and Benefits . . .................. $ 8,775,000 - $11,568,000 (24.1)%
Operating Wages and Benefits % . .. ............... 7.2% 8.6 % (1.4)%
Other Operating Expenses . . .. .........oovver.nn. $ 3,537,000 $ 3,606,000 (1.9%
Other Operating Expenses % . . . .. ... .oovviionn.n. 2.9% 27% 02 %
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses . . . ... ... $15,554,000 $15,635,000  (0.5)%
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses % . . .. ... 12.8% 116 % 12 %
Interest Income . . .............. e $ 338000 $ 496,000 (31.8)%
Interest Income % . ........... . ... ... . . . ..., 0.3% 04 % (0.1)%
Income Tax Benefit (Expense) ........ N e $ 1,058,000 $ (367,000)0 NM
Income Tax Benefit (Expense) % . ... .. [ 09% 03)% 12 %

NM — not meaningful

Operating wages and benefits expense as a percentage of revenues decreased to 7.2% for the year
ended December 31, 2004 from 8.6% in 2003. The reduction in operating wages and benefits expenses
as a percentage of revenues was primarily attributable to the termination of the EPC services
agreement. Operating wages and benefits expenses stated as a percentage of revenues were higher
under the EPC services agreement than in our standard service agreements. Continued declines in
business volume from existing customers may result in lower productivity and may negatively impact the
Company’s ability to maintain staff at optimal levels.

Other operating expenses as a percentage of revenues increased 0.2% to 2.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from 2.7% in 2003. The increase in percentage is primarily related to the impact of
certain fixed costs, such as depreciation of the Company’s ERP system, on a declining revenue base.
The Company’s other operating expenses were reduced by $0.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 substantially as a result of contract terminations,

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 12.8% for
the year ended December 31, 2004 from 11.6% in 2003. The increase in the selling, general and
administrative costs as a percentage of revenue is primarily attributable to non-operational employee
wages and benefits and other fixed costs as a percentage of the lower revenue base. The Company’s
ability to maintain or decrease the selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of
revenue is highly dependent upon the Company’s ability to expand its revenue base. Management
believes the current cost structure of the Company will enable future growth. Potential cost reductions,
if taken, could potentially inhibit that growth. During each of the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, the Company recorded benefits of $0.7 million. The $0.7 million benefits for the year ended
December 31, 2004 related to the favorable resolution of a dispute with a vendor of $0.4 million and a
favorable recovery of previously reserved receivables of $0.3 million. The $0.7 million benefit for the
year ended December 31, 2003 related to a legal settlement for more than anticipated. During the
fourth quarter of 2003, the Company recorded approximately $0.5 million in expense as a result of
repricing the Company’s outstanding stock options and changing the methodology for administering the
Company’s vacation policy. Overall, SG&A expense in 2004 remained relatively consistent with 2003,
decreasing $0.1 million.

Interest income was $338,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to interest income
of $496,000 for the comparable period in 2003. During 2004, the average monthly cash balance was
approximately $12.4 million lower than the comparable period of 2003. The reduction of interest
income was primarily attributable to the lower average cash balance. The decrease in the average cash
balance during the period is primarily attributable to the $5.00 per common share cash distribution
paid to the Company’s sharcholders in the fourth quarter of 2003, amounting to approximately
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$14.8 million, and the timing difference between the cash outlay and receivable collections from the
Company’s seasonal business during the fourth quarter of 2004. During the year ended December 31,
2004 the Company sold short-term investments for approximately $5.1 million, and realized a $30,000
loss on an investment that was previously recorded in other comprehensive loss.

Income tax expense of $23,000 was recorded on income earned from the Company’s Mexican
operations during the year ended December 31, 2004. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company
recognized a benefit and received cash in the amount of approximately $1.1 million relating to the
favorable resolution of a state tax issue. There was no tax benefit recorded for pretax losses of the
Company’s U.S. operations for the year ended December 31, 2004. The realization of income tax
benefits from such losses is dependent on future events that cannot currently be deemed more likely
than not to occur.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $2,621,000 compared to net loss of $724,000 in
2003, as a result of the operating results previously discussed.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002

Revenues

2003 2002 Change
Revenues. ....... ... ... ... i $134,557,000 $253,583,000 (46.9)%

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased $119.0 million, or 46.9%, to
$134.6 million from $253.6 miilion for the year ended December 31, 2002. The termination of contracts
with customers throughout fiscal 2002 and 2003 was the primary cause for the revenue reduction. The
termination of two customers, Kraft ($77.0 million) and EPC ($18.7 million) accounted for
$95.7 million of the overall decrease. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 included
$26.2 million related to the sale of Kraft inventory in connection with the termination of the Kraft
services agreement, The remaining decrease of $23.3 million was due to the termination of other
customer contracts of $19.7 million and the reduction in our continuing business of $5.6 million,
partially offset by increases in revenue from our Mexican operations of $1.0 million and an increase in
revenue relating to a one-time $1.0 million inventory sale to an existing customer that reduced its
In-Plant Store program during the third quarter of 2003.

During 2003, the Company incurred $4.6 million of costs for supplies shipped to a new customer.
The Company did not recognize revenue on the shipment of supplies as a result of not meeting all of
the criteria required by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104”). As of
December 31, 2003, the $4.6 million of costs relating to the supplies shipped to the new customer were
included in inventory on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The supplies shipped to this
customer were of a seasonal nature.

As a result of the termination of the In-Plant Store services agreements with EPC, Kraft and other
customers and the slowdown of the introduction of new sites, the Company did not achieve historic levels
of revenue during 2003. The Company reduced its operating costs as a result of the revenue decline.

Coors Brewing Company, comprised 14.1% of the 2003 revenue and less than 10% in fiscal 2002.
EPC, which terminated its services agreement with the Company during the third quarter of 2003,
comprised 11.9% and 13.7% of the Company’s revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Kraft comprised approximately 30.4% (20.0% excluding the Kraft inventory sale) of
the Company’s revenues during the year ended December 31, 2002.
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Cost of Materials / Gross Margin

2003 2002 Change
Cost of Materials ... ....... ... . . i $104,601,000 $205,274,000 (49.0)%
Costof Materials % . ....... ...t 77.7% 80.9% (3.2)%
Gross Margin %0 . . .o oo oot 22.3% 19.1% 32 %

Cost of materials as a percentage of revenues decreased to 77.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 from 80.9% in 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the high dollar/low
margin sale of Kraft inventory produced $1.7 million of gross margin, which accounted for 1.4% of
higher cost of material percentage for the period. Excluding the aforementioned sale, the Company’s
overall gross margin increased 1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to 2002.
Approximately 1.1% of this increase was due to a greater portion of management service fees in the
revenue mix during fiscal 2003. Management service fees have no direct material costs. The remainder
of the change of approximately $0.9 million, or 0.7% is attributable to reductions in the consolidated
cost of goods sold during the fourth quarter of 2003 as a result of decreases in prev1ously estimated
liabilities for product purchases.

Other
2003 2002 Change
Operating Wages and Benefits .. .................. $11,568,000 $18,466,000 (37.4)%
Operating Wages and Benefits % . ... .............. 8.6% 73% 13 %
Other Operating Expenses . . ... .......c.ovunn... $ 3,606,000 $ 6,537,000 (44.8)%
Other Operating Expenses % . . . ... .. vviveee ... 2.7% 26% 01 %
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses . . ....... $15,635,000 $20,558,000 (23.9)%
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses % . .. .. .. 11.6% 81% 35 %
Severance and Asset Impairment Expense ........... — $ 4,500,000 100.0 %
Severance and Asset Impairment Expense % ......... — 1.8% (1.8)%
Interest Income . . . ... ...ttt $ 496,000 $ 437,000 13.5 %
Interest INCOME % . . .o oo v i e e 0.4% 02% 02 %
Income Tax BXpense .. ........cvvueveinannnn .. § 367,000 $ 164,000 1238 %
Income Tax Expense %0 . ... ....... oo, 0.3% 01% 02 %

Operating wages and benefits expense as a percentage of revenues increased to 8.6% for the year
ended December 31, 2003 from 7.3% in 2002. Excluding revenue from the Kraft inventory sale, the
percentage for the year ended December 31, 2002 was 8.1%. The Company’s operating wages and
benefits were reduced by $6.9 million, or 37.4%, during 2003 in conjunction with contract terminations.
However, as a percentage of revenue these expenses increased, excluding the impact of the Kraft
inventory sale, by approximately 0.5%. The comparable year over year percentage reflects the
Company’s effort to reduce costs commensurate with declines in the Company’s revenue base. These
efforts were offset by increases in the cost of medical and dental benefits and pay rate increases on a
lower revenue base.

Other operating expenses as a percentage of revenues increased 0.1% to 2.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 from 2.6% in 2002. The Company’s operating expenses were reduced by $2.9 million
during 2003 in conjunction with contract terminations. These expense reductions were primarily due to
decreased depreciation and amortization of approximately $0.9 million, temporary labor of $0.6 million and
data / telecommunications of $0.5 million. The reduction in depreciation and amortization is due in large
part to the asset impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2002. Other operating expenses from
continuing sites remained approximately the same as the prior year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 11.6% for
the year ended December 31, 2003 from 8.1% in 2002. When revenue from the Kraft inventory sale is
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excluded, the percentage for the year ended December 31, 2002 was 9.0%. The Company’s selling,
general and administrative expenses were reduced by $4.9 million during 2003 in conjunction with
contract terminations. This decrease was primarily from reductions in wages and benefits of
non-operational employees of $2.6 million, bad debt expense of $1.1 million, legal fees of $0.5 million
and travel and travel related expenses of $0.5 million. The primary reason for these decreases is due to
the reduction in the Company’s overall business and a legal settlement for outstanding accounts
receivable balances that was settled more favorably than estimated by $0.7 million. Offsetting these
decreases, during the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company recorded approximately $0.5 million in
expense as a result of repricing the Company’s outstanding stock options and changing the
methodology for administering the Company’s vacation policy. The increase in the selling, general and
administrative costs as a percentage of revenue, excluding the impact of the Kraft inventory sale, from
9.0% to 11.6%, is primarily attributable to non-operational employee wages and benefits and other
fixed costs as a percentage of a much lower revenue base.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded charges of $4.5 million, or
1.8% of revenues, in connection with the termination of the Kraft services agreement. The charges
include $0.7 million of severance expense and $3.8 million of long-lived asset impairment expense. See
“Contract Terminations,” above.

Interest income was $496,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to interest income
of $437,000 for the comparable period in 2002. During 2003, the average monthly cash balance was
approximately $8.6 million higher than in 2002. The large increase in the Company’s cash balance
occurred in May of 2002 as a result of the inventory sale to Kraft. Fiscal 2003 had a full year of benefit
of this larger balance. As of December 31, 2003, the total cash, cash equivalent and short term
investments had decreased by $13.8 million to $29.8 million as compared to December 31, 2002,
primarily due to the $5.00 per share cash distribution of $14.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Income tax expense of $367,000 was recorded on income earned from the Company’s Mexican
operations during the year ended December 31, 2003. There was no tax benefit recorded for pretax
losses of the Company’s U.S. operations for the year ended December 31, 2003. The realization of
income tax benefits from such losses is dependent on future events that were not deemed more likely
than not to occur.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), and recorded a one-time
non-cash charge of $1.9 million to write-off the carrying value of its goodwill. Such charge is
non-recurring in nature and is reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $724,000, compared to net loss of $3,418,000
in 2002, as a result of the operating results previously discussed and the cumulative effect of the
accounting change to write-off the Company’s goodwill.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had $26.8 million of cash and cash equivalents. The
Company believes that cash on hand, cash generated from future operations and the ability to enter
into a new credit facility, if deemed appropriate, will generate sufficient funds to permit the Company
to support its operations.

Net cash used in operating activities was $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to net cash provided by operations of $1.8 million in 2003. The decrease in net cash from
operating activities was primarily due to the weaker operational performance during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2004 as well as an increase in-accounts receivable of approximately $7.6 million,
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offset by a decrease in inventories of approximately $6.1 million. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the
Company resolved a state income tax issue and recognized a benefit of approximately $1.1 million.

As of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, accounts receivable, net on the consolidated
balance sheet included outstanding balances of approximately $0.5 million and $0.7 million,
respectively, for terminated accounts with which the Company is involved in litigation. Although there
can be no assurance, the Company does not believe, based upon its evaluation of information currently
available, that the outcomes of such proceedings are likely to have a material adverse effect,
individually or in the aggregate, on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to net cash used of $5.3 million in 2003. During the year ended December 31, 2004 the
Company sold short-term investments for approximately $5.0 million and realized a $30,000 loss on an
investment that was previously recorded in other comprehensive loss. These short-term investments were
purchased during 2003 for $5.1 million. The difference between the approximately $5.1 million realized on
the sale of short-term investments and the $3.6 million net cash provided by investing activities consisted of
approximately $1.5 of capital expenditures for computer systems and related equipment.

Net cash used in financing activities was $11,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared
to $15.2 million in 2003. During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company declared and paid a cash
distribution, which was deemed to be a return of capital for tax purposes, of $5.00 per share to
shareholders. The total cash outflow for this dividend was approximately $14.6 million. In addition,
during 2003, the Company used $0.7 million to repurchase 45,476 shares of its common stock under a
stock repurchase program, of which 876 of the shares were cancelled, partially offset by the issuance of
3,572 shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options. During the year ended December 31,
2004, the Company issued 6,573 shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options.

During the year ended 2004, the Company entered into a new lease for its corporate headquarters.
Under this five year lease agreement, the Company’s annual rent obligations are as follows: 2005—
$316,000, 2006—$325,000, 2007—$334,000, 2008—$343,000 and 2009—$307,000. The minimum future
rental payments for all operating leases with initial noncancellable lease terms in excess of one year as
of December 31, 2004 are as follows: 2005—$410,000, 2006—$383,000, 2007—$344,000, 2008—$343,000
and 2009—$307,000.

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a
current or future effect on its financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses,
results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to the
Company’s investors. ‘

Inflation

The Company believes that any impact of general inflation has not had a material effect on its
results of operations. The Company’s current policy is to attempt to reduce any impact of inflation
through price increases and cost reductions.

Seasonality

During 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with a new institutional customer. Due to
anticipated concentration of a portion of this customer’s annual sales, the Company expects a spike in
sales during the third quarter of each fiscal year the customer continues business with the Company.
During the third quarter of 2003, the Company incurred $4.6 million of costs for supplies to this
customer. The Company did not. recognize revenue on the shipment of supplies as a result of not
meeting all of the criteria required by SAB 104. As of December 31, 2003, the $4.6 million of costs
relating to the supplies shipped to the new customer were included in inventory on the Company’s




balance sheet. Due to meeting all of the criteria of SAB 104 during the first quarter of 2004, the
Company recognized the revenue related to the $4.6 million of costs deferred as of December 31, 2003.
The Company recognized revenue on two seasonal buys during 2004 due to the recognition of the
revenue associated with the aforementioned deferred costs in fiscal 2004. The Company does not
expect to recognize revenue associated with two seasonal buys in fiscal 2005.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a revised
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 123”), Share Based Payment. The revised
SFAS No. 123 requires that the fair value of stock options be recorded in the results of operations
beginning no later than July 1, 2005. Stock compensation expense under the prior rules would have
reduced reported diluted earnings per share by 2 cents in 2004. Upon adoption of the revised standard,
prior awards are charged to expense under the previous rules, and awards after adoption are charged
to expense under the revised rules. The Company has not determined the impact of the adoption of
the new standard; however the Company does not anticipate expense under the new standard to be
higher than previously reported.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company’s exposure to market risk is generally limited to changes in interest rates related to
funds available for investment, which are tied to variable market rates. The Company does not have
any material exposure to market risk associated with activities in derivative financial instruments, other
financial instruments and derivative commodity instruments. If market interest rates were to increase by
10% from rates as of December 31, 2004, the effect would not be material to the Company.

The Company provides the In-Plant Store program in Mexico through two subsidiaries (collectively
“Mexico”). Mexico’s operations are conducted primarily in U.S. dollars, its functional currency, and
therefore the Company is not exposed to any significant foreign currency fluctuations and has no
foreign currency translation adjustments.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial statements of the Company are listed on the accompanying Index to Financial Statements.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not Applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
“Exchange Act”) as of the end of the period covered by this report (the “Evaluation Date”). Based on
such evaluation, such officers have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures are effective in alerting them on a timely basis to material information relating
to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, that is required to be included in reports filed
or submitted under the Exchange Act.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to
materially affect the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting in connection with the
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred during the Company’s
fourth fiscal quarter of 2004.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Strategic Distribution, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Strategic Distribution, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial
statement schedule. These consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Strategic Distribution, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered
in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.

KPMG LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 28, 2005
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31,

2004 2003
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ........ ..., . it iiineennnnn.. $26,840 $24,787
Short-term INVEStMENtS . . . . ..ot et it et ettt et e e —_ 5,053
Accounts receivable, Met. . . . vt it i e e 19,638 11,799
Recoverable INCOmE taXeS . . . v v it ittt ittt et ettt e e — 585
INVENtOries, Mt . . . o it it e e e e e e e 12,800 18,930
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .. ............... ... 426 500
Total CUITENt ASSEES .« o v v v v et e et e ettt e e e 59,704 61,654
Office fixtures and equipment, Net . .. . ...... .. it 3,495 3,550
Deferred income taxes .. ... . ...ttt e e 573 261
L0 1 5 =3 i 1< X ¢ S 14 38
TOtal @SSES . . . vttt $63,786 $65,503
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. ........... ... $15,137 $14,278
Total current liabilities. . . .. ... ... . . e 15,137 14,278
Commitments and contingencies {Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.10 per share. Authorized: 500,000 shares; issued
and outstanding: NONE . ... .o v v ittt — -
Common stock, par value $.10 per share. Authorized: 20,000,000 shares;
3,096,174 issued and 2,959,674 outstanding at December 31, 2004; 3,089,601
issued and 2,953,101 outstanding at December 31,2003 ............... 310 309
Additional paid-in capital . . ........ ... ... oo oL e 82,220 82,201
Accumulated deficit . . .. ... ... . (31,675) (29,054)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . ........... ... . S - (25)
Treasury stock, at cost (136,500 shares) . ............ ... ... ... ... .... (2,206) (2,206)
Total stockholders’ equity ................. ... . .. ... ... 48,649 51,225
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ......................... $63,786 $65,503

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share data)

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
REVENUES . ..o .vvennennn .. PP $ 121,878 $ 134,557 § 253,583
Costs and expenses:
Costof materials . ........ ... ... 98,029 104,601 205,274
Operating wages and benefits . . ...................... 8,775 11,568 18,466
Other operating eXpenses .. ...ttt 3,537 3,606 6,537
Selling, general and administrative expenses. .. ........... 15,554 15,635 20,558
Severance and asset impairment eXpenses . . ............. — — 4,500
Total costs and eXpenses. . . ......vviin ... 125,895 135,410 255,335
Operatingloss ... ....... ... i , (4,017) (853) (1,752)
Interest income ........... e e 338 496 437
Loss from operations before income taxes and cumulative
effect of accounting change ...................... (3,679) (357) (1,315)
Income tax benefit (expense) ........... ... .. ... 1,058 (367) (164)
Loss from operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change ........ ... . . .. (2,621) (724) (1,479)
Cumulative effect of accounting change .................. — — (1,939)
Netloss ...t $ (2621) $ (724) § (3/418)
Net loss per common share—basic and diluted:
Loss from operations . ..............c.viiiiina.... $ (089 $§ (024) § (0.48)
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ................ — — (0.63)
NEEIOSS © v vttt e e $§ (089 $ (024) § (1.11)
Weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding—basic and diluted: . . ... ... ... ... ... L. 2,953,822 2,989,011 3,084,964

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Paid-In  Accumulated Comprehensive  Notes  Treasury
Stock Capital Deficit Loss Receivable  Stock
Balance at December 31,2001 . ............. $314 $98,008 $(24,912) $— $(1,303)  $(1,073)
Netloss . ... — — (3,418) — — —
Repurchase of 42,400 shares .. .......... .. — — — — — (490)
Balance at December 31,2002 .. ............ 314 98,008 (28,330) — (1,303) (1,563)
Netloss . ....... ... ... — (724) — — —
Unrealized loss on investments . . . .. ........ — — — (25) — —
Repurchase of 45,476 shares ... ... ........ — (12) — — — (643)
Exercise of stock options . . . .. ............ — 36 — — — —
Distribution to stockholders . . .. .. ......... — (14,765) — — — —_
Revaluation of stock options . . ............ — 232 — — — —
Cancellation of 51,500 shares for defaulted notes
receivable . . ... ... o L ) (1,298) — — 1,303 —
Issuance of 147 shares related to 2001 reverse
stocksplit, . ...... ... ... ... .. .. ... — — — — — —
Balance at December 31,2003 .. ............ 309 82,201 (29,054) (25) — (2,206)
Netloss oot i e e —_ — (2,621) — — —
Sale of short-term investments and recongnition
related unrealized losses ... ............ — — — 25 — —
Revaluation of stock options . . . ........... — (20) — — — —
Exercise of stock options . . .. ............. 1 39 — — ‘ — —
Balance at December 31,2004 .. ... ......... $310 $82,220 $(31,675) $— $ —  $(22006)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net 0SS . .ot $(2,621) $ (724) § (3,418)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . . . ........... ... ..., 1,578 1,730 2,845
Provision for doubtful accounts . .. ....................... (231) (127) 1,122
Loss on sale of short-term investments . . . . ................. 30 — —
Stock Option Iepricing . . . . . .o oo i e 20) 232 —
Asset IMpairment . . ..ottt e — — 3,800
Deferred income taxes .. ........c.ovvineennninnnnnnn.. (312) 657 164
Cumulative effect of accounting change .................... — — 1,939
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable. . ... ... .. . T (7,608) 10,535 16,374
Recoverable income taXes . .. ......... 0ot 585 (585) 4,115
Inventories . . ... ... e e 6,130 1,391 23,792
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. .................. 910  (11,601) (10,286)
Other, net . ... o i e e 98 246 196

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities . . . ........... (1,461) 1,754 40,643
Cash flows from investing activities: :

Sale of short-term investments . .................c.cuueeennn — (5,078) —
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments. ................. 5,048 — —
Additions of property and equipment .......... P (1,523) (262) (145)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . .......... 3,525 (5,340) (145)
Cash flows from financing activities: ‘
Issuance of common stock . .............. P 40 36 —
Repurchase of common stock . ......... ... ... ... e —_ (655) (490)
Cash distribution to stockholders. .. ............. ... ... .... (51) (14,630) —
Net cash used in financing activities . .......... [P (11)  (15,249) (490)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... ......... 2,053  (18,835) 40,008
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year................. 24,787 43,622 3,614
Cash and cash equivalents, end of theyear .. ................... $26,840 $ 24,787 § 43,622
Supplemental cash flow information: ‘
Taxes Paid . ... oot e $ 336 $ 371 § 90
Interest paid . ... . ...t e — — 9

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Description of Business

Strategic Distribution, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) provides supply chain management
services with respect to maintenance, repair and operating (“MRO”) supplies for industrial and
institutional customers in the United States and Mexico. The Company conducts it U.S operations
primarily through its wholly-owned subsidiary, SDI, Inc. (“SDI”).

The Company provides the In-Plant Store program in Mexico through two subsidiaries (collectively
“Mexico”). Mexico’s operations are conducted primarily in U.S. dollars, its functional currency, and
therefore the Company is not exposed to any significant foreign currency fluctuations and has no
foreign currency translation adjustments.

(2) Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Strategic Distribution, Inc. and
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Significant estimates made by the Company include evaluation of the recoverability of assets,
such as accounts receivable, inventories and income tax assets, and the assessment of litigation and
other contingencies. The Company’s ability to collect accounts receivable and recover the value of its
inventories depends on a number of factors, including the financial condition of its customers, the
effect of changes in economic conditions and the Company’s ability to enforce provisions of its
contracts in the event of disputes. The Company provides reserves or accrues liabilities to record assets
at estimated net realizable values and to record probable contingent liabilities. The matters that give
rise to such provisions are inherently uncertain and may require complex and subjective judgments.

Although the Company believes the estimates and assumptions used in determining the recorded
amounts of net assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004, are reasonable, actual results could differ
from the estimated amounts recorded in the Company’s financial statements.

During 2003, the Company determined that certain other liabilities and reserves as of
December 31, 2003, were overstated by approximately $1,374,000. The adjustments required to correct
the liabilities and reserves were based on recent developments that lead management to refine
estimates related to certain liabilities and reserves. Of these adjustments, $930,000 was reflected as a
reduction to cost of materials in 2003 due to overstated liabilities to suppliers. The remaining
adjustments of $444,000 were reflected as reductions in Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
and Other Operating Expenses in 2003.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased are
considered to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had investments in
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $26,840,000 and $29,840,000,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company made a cash distribution, which
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

was deemed to be a return of capital for tax purposes, to stockholders totaling $14,765,000. (See

Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity). The Company’s investment policy limits investments to highly rated and
highly liquid instruments of U.S. Banks, the U.S. government or government agencies, and commercial
money market funds.

The Company accounted for investments in debt and equity securities under the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities. Management determines the appropriate classification of debt securities at
the time of purchase, and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. The Company
classified their investments as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value,
with the unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized
gains and losses, declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary, and interest and dividends
earned on available-for-sale securities are included in investment income. The contractual maturities of
the Company’s available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2003, were all less than one year. In 2003,
the Company had unrealized losses of $25,000 on its available-for-sale securities, which was realized at
the time of sale during the second quarter of 2004.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s f1nanc1al instruments, principally accounts receivable and
accounts payable, approximate fair value.

Inventories

Inventories, which consist solely of goods purchased for resale, are stated at the lower of cost
(determined on the first-in, first-out basis) or market.

During 2003, the Company incurred $4,568,000 of costs for supplies shipped to a new customer.
The Company did not recognize revenue on the shipment of these supplies as a result of not meeting
all of the criteria required by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104”). As
of December 31, 2003, the $4,568,000 of costs relating to the supplies shipped to the new customer
were included in inventory on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The supplies shipped to this
new customer were of a seasonal nature. The Company recogmzed the revenue related to these costs
plus gross margin during the first quarter of 2004.

Office Fixtures and Equipment

Office fixtures and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the remaining life of the asset or the lease term.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized and
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives of depreciable assets
are as follows:

Office equipment and software ... ............. ... ... .. . . . i, 3 to 7 years
Leasehold improvements .. ............ ... ... . . . . . i 3 to 5 years
Transportation eqUIPMENt . . . ... oo i it e 6 years
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

SEAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”)
requires that long-lived assets, such as office fixtures and equipment be tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.
(See Note 7, Contract Terminations).

Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance may be established to reduce deferred
tax assets to amounts deemed more likely than not to be realized.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, products are delivered
or services are provided to customers, selling prices are fixed or determinable and collection is
reasonably assured.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB No. 25”), and related
interpretations including Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 44,
Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation (“FIN 447), to account for its stock
options. Under this method, compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the current
market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price. As allowed by SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, the amendment to SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, the Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic
value-based method of accounting as described above, and have adopted only the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss of each period if the fair value based method
of determining stock-based employee compensation under SFAS No. 123 had been applied to all
outstanding awards. (See Note 12, Stock Compensation Plans.)

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net loss—asteported. . . . ... ... oo, $(2,621) $(724) $(3,418)
Add stock-based employee compensation (income) expense

included in reported net loss, netof tax . .. ........... (20) 232 —
Less stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under the fair value method, net of tax ... .. (62) (139) (164)
Netloss—proforma ............ccciteiiiineennn.. $(2,703) $ (631) $(3,582)
Net loss per share (basic and diluted)—as reported .. ... .. $ (0.89) $(0.24) $ (1.11)
Net loss per share (basic and diluted)—pro forma ... ... .. $ (0.91) $(0.21) $ (1.16)

Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company had unrealized losses of $25,000 on
available-for-sale securities. Such losses were reflected as other comprehensive loss in stockholders’
equity. Comprehensive loss was $749,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. For the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2002, the comprehensive loss equaled the net loss reported.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

3) Ac_counis Receivable

Accounts receivable is stated net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,905,000 and
$2,588,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, accounts
receivable included outstanding balances’ of approximately $500,000 and $700,000, respectively, related
to terminated accounts with which the Company was involved in litigation.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(4) Office Fixtures and Equipment

December 31,

2004 2003
(in thousands)

Office equipment and SOftware .. ............ .c.cvvuueinune.nn $ 7,500 $ 6,180
Leasehold improvements. . . ...... ... ... i 136 45
Transportation eqUIPIIEnt . . . ...ttt e e 25 17
7,661 6,242
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization. .. ............. (4,166) (2,692)
$ 3,495 $ 3,550

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, depreciation and amortization expense
were $1,578,000, $1,730,000 and $2,797,000, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded an impairment charge of
$3,800,000 related to the write-down of certain fixed assets in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 144 (see Nate 7, Contract Terminations).

(5) Intangible Assets

SEAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”) requires that goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for
impairment at least annually. Under SFAS 142, goodwill impairment is deemed to exist if the carrying
value of the Company’s goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142 and recorded a
one-time, non-cash charge of $1,939,000 to write-off the carrying value of its goodwill as of January 1,
2002. The fair value used in determining the amount of impairment was estimated based on quoted
market prices for the Company’s common stock. This charge was non-recurring in nature and was
reflected as “cumulative effect of accounting change” in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

(6) Accounts Payable and Accrued Expénses

December 31,

2004 2003
(in thousands)
Accounts payable . . . ... ... $10,598 $ 7,806
Cashoverdraft. . ........... ... . . i 0 925
Payroll and related expenses. . . ........ .. ... ... . ... 1,287 2,077
Other accrued €Xpenses . . ... .o in ittt it e e 3,252 3,470

$15,137 $14,278




STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(7) Contract Terminations

In May 2003, the Company announced that it agreed to terminate the In-Plant Store services
agreements with El Paso Corporation (“EPC”), its then largest customer. The Company transitioned all
storerooms to EPC during July 2003. The Company’s EPC revenues for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002 were $16.0 million and $34.7 million, respectively. There were no accounts receivable
and inventory related to EPC at December 31, 2003.

During 2002, the Company and Kraft Foods North America, Inc. (“Kraft”) discussed certain
changes to the In-Plant Store services agreement that would have made the Kraft agreement profitable
and reduced the Company’s working capital commitment. As a result of the inability of the parties to
reach a revised agreement, on March 27, 2002 the Company and Kraft agreed to terminate the
relationship prior to the contract expiration of August 2003. During the second quarter of 2002, the
Company sold its Kraft inventory to Kraft at normal selling prices. The value of the sale was
$26.2 million and the related gross margin was $1.7 million. During the second and third quarters of
2002, the Company substantially completed the transition of all storerooms to Kraft and reduced its
operating costs. The Company provided inventory procurement and management services to Kraft
during the transition. The Company’s Kraft revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 were
$77.0 million ($50.8 million excluding the Kraft inventory sale). There were no accounts receivable and
inventory related to Kraft at December 31, 2002.

In connection with the termination of the Kraft agreement, the Company and Kraft provided the
affected workforce with information concerning employment opportunities with either the Company or
Kraft and provided severance benefits to those employees whose positions were eliminated in the
workforce reduction. In connection therewith, the Company recorded severance expense ‘of $700,000
during the second quarter of 2002, which was paid prior to December 31, 2002. -

As a result of the termination of the Kraft relationship, the Company evaluated the recoverability
of its computer technology and determined that the carrying value was impaired from the expected
underutilization. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3.8 million in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 144. The Company used an expected present value method
with multiple cash flow scenarios and a risk free interest rate as the basis for measuring the fair value
of the assets.

(8) Retirement Plan

The Company has a qualified defined contribution plan (the “Retirement Savings Plan”) for
employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. Contributions to the Retirement Savings Plan are
at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) and are limited to the
amount deductible for Federal income tax purposes. The expense for the Retirement Savings Plan was
approximately $170,000, $40,000 and $260,000 and for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The Company’s expense for 2003 was reduced by approximately $175,000 of
forfeitures from unvested balances of participants.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(9) Income Taxes

Income tax benefit (expense) from operations is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(in thousands)

Current:
Federal ............ ..., S $ — $58 § —
State . . e 1,081 _ —
FOT€ign . . ..ottt e (336)  (295) —
745 290 —
Deferred:
Federal .. ... .. i — (585) —
State . ... ... . TN B — —
200 =313« O 313 (72)  (164)

313 (657)  (164)
$1,058  $(367)  $(164)

The Company received $1,081 during the fourth quarter of 2004 as a result of the favorable
resolution of a state tax issue.

A reconciliation of the expected Federal income tax benefit (expense) from operations at the
statutory rate (34% in 2004, 2003 and 2002) to the Company’s income tax expense follows:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

: (in thousands) .
Expected tax beneflt .................................... $1,251 $ 121 $1,106

Increase (decrease) in tax benefit resultmg from: v
State taxes, net of Federal benefit . . ... ..................... 713 — —
Valuation allowance . ............. .. (917) (505) (512)
Nondeductible goodwill . ....... ... ... .. .. ... ... . ... — — (659)
Other, et . . .. e e 11 17 (99)

$1,058 $(367)  $ (164)
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(9) Income Taxes (Continued)

The components of the net deferred tax asset were as follows:

December 31,
2004 2003
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards (expiring primarily in 2022 and 2023) .. § 4,358 § 3,593

Alternative minimum tax carryforwards . ........... ... .. ... ..., 666 353
Accounts receivable allowance .. .......... .. .. ... ... 737 974
50025 ¢ o) (=1 509 536
AcCCrued BXPETISES . . o vttt e e e e 982 806
Other . ..o e e — C—
Valuation allowance ................. [P .. (6,211)  (5,294)

Total deferred tax asset ................. P 1,041 968

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment . .. .... ... .. (468) (707)

Net deferred tax asset .. ..... ..ottt it $ 573 § 261

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, a valuation allowance was established to reduce deferred tax
assets to amounts deemed more likely than not to be realizable. The net change in the valuation
allowance was an increase of $917,000 and $707,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.
Approximately $202,000 of the increase in the 2003 valuation allowance was attributable to a
permanent book to tax difference relating to the cancellation of stockholder notes deductible for tax
purposes but not book.

(10) Stockholders’ Equity

The Company has authorized 500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share. No
shares-of preferred stock are currently issued or outstanding. The Board may at any time fix by =
resolution any of the powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions
of the preferred stock, which may be issued in series, the designation of each such series to be fixed by
the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the
payment of a cash distribution, which is deemed to be a return of capital for tax purposes, in the
amount of $5.00 per share of common stock. The distribution was paid on October 6, 2003 to
stockholders of record on September 8, 2003. The total amount of the distribution was $14,765,000, of
which $84,000 remained unpaid as of December 31, 2004.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, 7% promissory notes receivable amounting to
$1,303,000 became due and were in default. The non-recourse notes related to the sale of 51,500 shares
of common stock pursuant to Stock Purchase Agreements with three former executives under which the
Company held the common stock as collateral. In accordance with its rights under the notes, the
Company retained and cancelled the 51,500 shares of common stock. Accordingly, the Company
wrote-off the notes and took a corresponding reduction in common stock and additional paid-in capital.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(10) Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)

During 2003 and 2002 the Company repurchased 45,476 and 42,400 shares of common stock at
weighted average prices of $14.40 and $11.55 per share, respectively, under a repurchase program.
Under the repurchase program, the Company is authorized to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of
common stock in privately negotiated transactions or on the open market and in compliance with
applicable federal and state securities regulations. At December 31, 2003, the Company had remaining
authority to purchase up to 909,424 shares until the repurchase program expiration in June 2004. The
repurchase agreement was extended in June 2004 until June 2005 with the authorization to repurchase
up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. There were no shares repurchased by the
Company during 2004.

(11) Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per common share—basic and diluted are equal for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, because the effect of the assumed issuance of potential shares of common
stock is antidilutive as a result of the net loss. As of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were
stock options outstanding for 100,451 shares, 59,879 shares and 93,101 shares of common stock,
respectively.

(12) Stock Compensation Plans

The Company has two Incentive Stock. Option Plans (the “1990 Plan” and the “1999 Plan”,
collectively referred to as the “ISO Plans”) and a Non-Employee Director Stock Plan (the “Director
Plan”). '

In conjunction with the $5.00 per share cash distribution to stockholders in 2003, the Board of
Directors of the Company also approved a -$5.00 per share reduction in the exercise price of all
outstanding stock options, except where such reduction would result in an exercise price of less than
$0.10 per share, effective December 31, 2003, to offset the reduction in the underlying value of the
common stock. In accordance with FIN 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock
Compensation, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $232,000 in 2003. In addition, the repriced
stock options require variable accounting, from the date of modification to the date the stock options
are exercised, forfeited or expire unexercised. During 2004, the Company recorded approximately
$20,000 as a reduction in cost relating to the variable plan accounting.

Under the 1999 Plan the Board. is authorized to grant certain directors, executives, key employees,
consultants and advisers, options for the purchase of up to 150,000 shares of common stock. No new
option grants may be made under the 1990 Plan. The ISO Plans provide for the granting of both
incentive stock options and options that do not qualify as incentive stock options (“nonqualified
options™). In the case of each incentive stock option granted under the ISO Plans, the option price
must not be less than the fair market value of the common stock at the date of grant. At date of
issuance, all options granted under the ISO Plans are exercisable at not less than the fair market value
of the common stock at the date of grant. A significant portion of the options granted under the 1999
Plan are exercisable at 25.0% per year beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. A
significant portion of the options granted under the 1990 Plan are exercisable at 33.3% per year
beginning on the third anniversary of the date of grant.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(12) Stock Compensation Plans (Continued)

The following table summarizes the option information for options granted under the ISO Plans:

Weighted

Average

Number of  Exercise

Shares Prices

Options outstanding, December 31,2001 . ....................... 116,916  $24.96
Options canceled or expired ... ....... ... ... . . ... (38,215)  25.64
Options outstanding, December 31,2002 . ... .................... 78,701 24.64
Options exercised during 2003. . .. ... ... .. . .. e (3,572) 10.14
Options canceled Orexpired . . ... oot (30,850) 1521
Options outstanding, December 31,2003 .. ... .......c......o.... 44279 2754
Options granted during 2004 . . . . ... ... .. ... . . . PRPEN 57,000 11.69
Options exercised during 2004 . . ... ... ... ... ... . (1,373) 4.03
Options canceled orexpired ... ... ... .. .. ... ..., (13,455)  28.44
Options outstanding, December 31,2004 . ... .................... 86,451 17.40
OpHONS EXerciSable . . .. .o oo ot 24,565  $32.53

Under the Director Plan the Board is authorized to grant options to purchase up to 27,500 shares
of common stock. Options granted under the Director Plan are immediately exercisable and expire five
years from the date of grant. The following table summarizes the option information for options
granted under the Director Plan:

Weighted

Average

Number of  Exercise

Shares Prices

Options outstanding, December 31,2001 .. ...................... 13,600 - $17.68
Options granted during 2002. . .. .. ... . ... .. . 3,200 12.70
Options canceled or expired during 2002 . .. ..................... (2,400) 45.00
Options outstanding, December 31,2002 . ... .................... 14,400 12.02
Options granted during 2003 . . . .. P 3,600 14.05
Options canceled or expired during 2003 .. ...................... (2,400) 25.00
Options outstanding, December 31, 2003 ........................ 15,600 6.77
Options granted during 2004 . . . .. ... .. ... e 3,600  14.00
Options exercised during 2004. . . . . ... .. ... i (5,200) 6.44
Options outstanding, December 31,2004 . .. ..................... 14,000 § 8.75

The Company has an Executive Compensation Plan (the “Executive Plan”) under which the Board
is authorized to grant up to 50,000 shares of common stock. No shares of common stock have been
issued under the Executive Plan.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(12) Stock Compensation Plans (Continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under all plans at
December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
) Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual  Exercise Number Exercise

Exercise Prices Outstanding  Life (Years) Prices Exercisable Prices
$0.10-$5.00 . ... . 13,234 4.6 $ 261 10,025 $ 232
$5.01-81000 . ...... ... ... .. 4,900 4.3 8.91 3,223 8.41
$10.01-%315.00 .......... ... 64,300 9.3 11.95 7,300 14.02
$15.01-$50.00 .......... ... ... ..., 8,764 3.6 23.77 8,764 23.77
$55.01-864.40 . ....... . ... . ... .. 9,253 2.0 60.66 9,253 60.66
100,451 7.3 $ 16.21 38,565 $24.05

The weighted average fair value of options granted for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was $3.51, $9.47 and $8.75, respectively.

The fair value based employee compensation of the options at date of grant was estimated using
the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Expected life (years). . .. ... oot e 5.00 5.00 5.00
INterest rat€ . . . ..ot e 3.60% 327% 3.03%
Volatility . . ........ ... ... .. ... A S 78.03% 82.78% 86.06%
Dividend yield(a) . . .. ... .. e 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

(a) Dividend yield excludes the effect of the $5.00 per share cash distribution, which is deemed to be a
return of capital for tax purposes, to stockholders in 2003 and assumes the Company will not
declare any cash dividends from earnings in the foreseeable future.

(13) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office space, equipment and vehicles for initial terms of three to five years.
The minimum future rental payments for operating leases with initial noncancellable lease terms in
excess of one year as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

2005 .. $410
2006 ... 383
2007 .. 344
2008 ... 343
2000 ... 307

Rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, was approximately
$663,000, $789,000 and $1,055,000, respectively.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(13) Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

The Company is currently involved in certain legal proceedings, including collection matters with
several terminated accounts. The Company does not believe that the outcomes of such proceedings are
likely to have a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, on its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

(14) Segment Information

The Company operates in one reportable segment and substantially all of its revenues were from
the procurement, handling and data management of MRO supplies for its customers.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company had revenues of
$23,420,000, $26,088,000 and $25,086,000 from customers in Mexico. As of December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, approximately 4.3% and 4.4% of the Company’s long-lived assets were located
outside of the United States.

(15) Concentration Risk

The Company has a high concentration of revenue, inventory and/or accounts receivable
attributable to a few customers. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 39.9%,
35.3% and 51.9%, respectively of the Company’s revenues were derived from our three largest
customers, of which two customers were greater than 10%. Revenues from Coors Brewing Company
(“Coors”) and the New York City Department of Education comprised 16.6% and 15.7% of the
Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004, respectively. Loss of either of these
customers would have a material adverse effect on the business. Revenues from Coors and EPC
comprised 14.1% and 11.9% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31,2003,
respectively. Revenues from Kraft Foods North America, Inc. and EPC comprised 30.4% and 13.7% of
the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002, respectively. Additionally, as of
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 the three customers that represented the largest net
inventory balances comprised 52.6% (32.0% from the largest customer) and 60.5% (24.2% from the
largest customer), respectively, of the total net inventory balance. The December 31, 2003 balance
included approximately $4.6 million of supplies that were shipped to a new customer during 2003, but
revenue was not recorded until the first quarter of 2004. Three customers accounted for 52.4% and
28.8% of the Company’s net accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.
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STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(16) Quarterly Data (in thousands, except per share data)—Unaudited

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter . Quarter Year
2004(a,b,c,d) ‘
Revenues .. ......... ... ... ... ... ..... $32,026 $27,384 $30,527 $31,941 $121,878
Operating loss . ..., $ (529) $ (709) $(1,519) $(1,260) $ (4,017)
NEtIOSS - .o voveee e $ (475) $ (677) $(1,366) $ (103) $ (2,621)
Net loss per common share .. ................ $ (0.16) $ (0.23) $ (0.46) $ (0.03) $ (0.89)
2003(e,f,g,h) ‘
Revenues . ............. e $40,696 - $37,390 $30,033 $26,438 $134,557
Operating income (loss) .. ................. . 8 137 § 294 §$ (566) $ (718) $§ (853)
Net income (I0SS) . . ..o vii v e e $ 55 $§ 372 $§ (461) $ (690) § (724)
Net income (loss) per common share . .......... $ 002 $ 012 §$ (0.16) $ (0.23) $ (0.24)

(a) The first quarter of 2004 includes $5.7 million of revenue, and related costs, related to supplies
shipped in 2003. This revenue was not recognized until all of the criteria of SAB 104 were met.

(b) The second quarter of 2004 includes a $0.4 million benefit related to the favorable resolution of a
dispute with a vendor.

(c) The third quarter of 2004 includes a favorable recovery of previously reserved receivables of
$0.3 million.

(d) The fourth quarter of 2004 includes a $1.1 million tax benefit relating to the favorable resolution
of a state tax matter. ' : '

(e) The second quarter of 2003 includes a benefit, of $700,000 from a legal settlement for less than
amounts previously accrued.

(f) The fourth quarter of 2003 includes a $930,000 reduction in cost of materials related to changes in
previously recorded estimates of liabilities for products purchased.

(g) The fourth quarter of 2003 includes a charge of $232,000 for the repricing of outstanding stock
options. :

(h) The fourth quarter of 2003 includes a charge of $250,000 related to changes in the Company’s
vacation benefits.

(17) Related Party Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company obtained insurance brokerage services
and incurred fees for such services of approximately $40,000. The Company’s Chairman is a majority
shareholder and chairman of the board of directors of the entity that wholly owns the insurance
brokerage firm providing the services.

The Company has retained Willkie Farr & Gallagher as it legal counsel on certain matters. During
the year ended December 31, 2004 the Company incurred fees of approximately $80,000 payable to
Willkie Farr & Gallagher. The Company anticipates it will continue its relationship with the firm in the
future. A member of the board of directors of the Company is the Chairman of Willkie Farr and
Gallagher.
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: SCHEDULE I1
STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 (in thousands)

(Reduction)
Balance at Charge to Costs Balance at
Beg. of Period and Expenses Deductions  Transfers End of Period

Year Ended December 31, 2004:

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . $2,588 $ (231) § (552)(a) $ 100 (c) $1,905

Inventory allowance . ........... 1,106 209 (135)(b)  (100)(c) 1,080

Contract performance accrual . . . .. 171 — — — 171
Year Ended December 31, 2003: ‘ ,

Allowance for doubtful accounts . .. $3,750 $ (127) $(2,235)(a) $1,200 (d) $2,588

Inventory allowance . ........... 1,165 (28) (31)(b) — 1,106

Contract performance accrual . . ... 1,311 60 (1,200)(d) — 171
Year Ended December 31, 2002: ' :

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . $9,300 $1,122 $(7,297)(a) $ 625 (c) $3,750

Inventory allowance . ........... 1,150 : 640 (625)(c) — 1,165

Contract performance accrual . . ... 1,840 650 (1,179)(e) — 1,311

(a) Charge-off of uncollectible accounts.
(b) Disposal of inventory.
(c) Inventory subject to the allowance was billed to customers and the related allowance was reclassified.

(d) A performance guarantee accrual was settled and reclassified in connection with the collection of an
outstanding customer account.

(e) Payments or credits to customers.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company

The information contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which will be filed not later than 120 days after December 31, 2004 (the “Proxy
Statement”), under the captions “Election of Directors”, “Identification of Executive Officers” and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Executive Compensation” is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table summarizes the shares authorized for issuance under equity compensation
plans:

Number of securities to  Weighted-average exercise

be issued upon exercise price of outstanding Number of securities remaining
of outstanding options, options, warrants and available for future issuance
Pian Category warrants and rights rights under equity compensation plans

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders .............. 100,451 $16.21 96,221

Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders .............. —

Total . ....... ... .. 100,451 $16.21 96,221

|
|

Jltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information contained in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Executive Compensation”
and “Transactions with Affiliates” is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Approval of Independent
Auditors” is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY. Consolidated
Financial Statements of Company filed with this Report are listed on the accompanying Index to
Financial Statements.

(a) 2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES. Financial Statement Schedules of the
Company filed with this Report are listed on the accompanying Index to Financial Statements.

(a) 3. EXHIBITS (References below to an exhibit being filed with a previous filing made by the
Company are included for the€ purpose of incorporating such previously filed exhibit by reference to
such filing. Previously unfiled exhibits are those marked with an asterisk.)

3.1 Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed June 21, 1996 with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
filed May 16, 2001 with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001).

33 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, dated July 24, 1986, as amended (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001).

10.1 - Form of Strategic Distribution, Inc. Amended and Restated 1990 Incentive Stock Option Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001).

10.2  Form of Strategic Distribution, Inc. Executive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001).

10.3  Form of Amended and Restated Strategic Distribution, Inc. 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock
Plan.*

104  Form of Option Agreement under Amended and Restated Strategic Distribution, Inc. 1996
Non- Employee Director Stock Plan.*

10.5  Form of Strategic Distribution, Inc. 1999 Incentive Stock Option Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended June 30, 1999).

10.6  Form of Option Agreement under Strategic Distribution, Inc. 1999 Incentive Stock Option
Plan.*

10.7  Executive Employment Agreement dated as of June 27, 2003, between the Company and
Richard S. Martin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003).

10.8  Employment Letter, dated as of November 21, 2000, between Strategic Distribution, Inc. and
Donald C. Woodring.*

10.9  Employment Agreement, dated as of December 4, 2000, between Strategic Distribution, Inc.
and Donald C. Woodring.*
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10.10

10.11

10.12

14.

21.
23.
31.1

31.2

321

322

Employment Letter, dated as of August 9, 2004, between Strategic Distribution, Inc. and Daniel
J. Kearney.*

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2004, between Strategic Distribution, Inc.
and Daniel J. Kearney.*

Lease Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2004, by and between Strategic Distribution, Inc and
Preferred 950 Developers L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2004).

. Business Ethics Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004).
List of Subsidiaries of the Company*
Consent of KPMG LLP*

Certification by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 13a-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended.*

Certification by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 13a-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended.*

Certification by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certification by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, this 30th day of March, 2005

STRATEGIC DISTRIBUTION, INC.

By: /s/ DONALD C. WOODRING

Donald C. Woodring
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report on Form 10-K
has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the date(s) indicated.

Name Tite Date
/s/ DONALD C. WOODRING President and Chief Executive Officer
- . . . March 30, 2005
Donald C. Woodring (principal executive officer)
/s/ RICHARD S. MARTIN Vice I?resideqt a_nd C_hief Ij“inanc.ial
Officer (principal financial officer March 30, 2005

Richard S. Martin and principal accounting officer)

/s/ WILLIAM R. BERKLEY
William R. Berkley

Chairman of the Board and Director March 30, 2005

/s/ WiILLIAM R. BERKLEY, JR

— Director March 30, 2005
William R. Berkley, Jr
/s/ ANDREW M. BURSKY .
Director March 30, 2005
Andrew M. Bursky
/s/ CATHERINE JAMES PAGLIA )
- - Director March 30, 2005
Catherine James Paglia
/s/ ROBERT D. NEARY )
Director March 30, 2005

Robert D. Neary
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Name

/s/ JACK H. NUSBAUM

Jack H. Nusbaum

/s/ JOSHUA A. POLAN

Joshua A. Polan

/s/ MITCHELL 1. QUAIN

Mitchell 1. Quain

/s/ RONALD C. WHITAKER

Ronald C. Whitaker

Director

Director

Director

Director
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SDI Core Walues

CUSTOMER VALUE We measure our success by that of our customers.
And we believe success is built by partnerships based

on straight talk and a true understanding of each
other's needs. Our goal is to provide solutions that
create long-term value for customers - and that build
mutually beneficial business relationships. We are
passionate about customer service.

EXCELLENCE We are creating the standard for excellence in our
industry. We set performance goals and measure
our results. We are relentless in our pursuit of quality.

INTEGRITY We firmly adhere to a code of conduct based upon
ethical, honest, and responsible behavior. We treat
our customers, suppliers, and each other as we
want to be treated. We keep our promises.

SHAREHOLDER VALUE Our employees create value for our shareholders by
generating and implementing industry-ieading ideas.
We hold ourselves accountable to creating equitable
value for our shareholders.

GENEROUS LISTENING  Communication is the key to relationships. We will

always strive to be generous with our listening to
make sure we understand and respect others’ views.

CONTINUOUS LEARNING We are a learning organization. We drive innovation
by promoting professional growth and development.
We share our learning by providing "thought leadership”
to each other, to our customers, and to our industry.

STANDING FOR EACH  we support one another and are accountable for each
OTHER’S SUCCESS other’s successes or failures. We value each person in the
organization, recognizing his or her unique contributions
to our success and publicly recognizing our employees’

achievements. We succeed only as a team.







